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Pilot

Season 1
Episode Number: 1
Season Episode: 1

4 )
Originally aired: Wednesday May 29, 2019
Writer: Moira Kirland
Director: Charlotte Sieling
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Michael B. Silver (Brian Currie), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Grace
Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Sean Bolger (Ed Roven), Sarah Abbott (Abigail
Coleman), Adam Stafford (Stark / Waterman), Chad Rook (Stephen
Archer), Doug Abrahams (Detective), Angela Palmer (Sally), Nathan
Parrott (Boy / Young Mark), Lorraine Colond (Nurse), Shane Kim
(Young Uniform), Patrick Roccas (Swat Officer), Kailea De Leon
(Meghan / Mark’s Mom), Cindy Senaud (Police Officer)

Summary: Cassie helps her father, Detective Tom Hackett, and his partner,
Damien Asante, solve a young woman’s murder using her unique psy-
chic powers. She also encounters a supernatural spirit, Ed Roven,
whose evil transcends time.

The episode begins tonight with Cassie
Bishop grocery shopping when she hears
a song, that causes her to flashback to a
scene of a metal storage unit by the wa-
ter; when she opens the doors, she goes
behind the plastic curtain and finds a
dead woman who has been strangled and
no eyes. Cassie suddenly realizes she is
at the store and grabs a couple bottles of
alcohol.

The following morning, Cassie is wo-
ken up by Abigail Coleman, who re-
minded her that she told Abigail to wake
her up in the morning before she started
drinking. Cassie asks what else she did
do last night causing Abigail to say that she spoke about Shannon Bell, the missing girl.

Cassie is drinking some coffee when Detective Tom Hackett stops by on his way to work.
Cassie tells him that she saw some strange stuff that might be related to his case. She reveals
the woman she saw was dead and someone had removed her eyes, but the little boy was still
alive. Tom is confused because Shannon didn’t have any children and went missing on her way
to work; he shows her a photo of Shannon and she realizes that isn’t the woman she saw. She
feels bad for wasting his time but promises to come by for dinner sometime the coming week;
hoping that Shannon is okay.

Tom arrives at the precinct where he greets Maria Salinas and Zayn Meier; Maria says there
was no foreign DNA nor fingerprints at Shannon’s place. There is nothing on the cameras by her
place but Tom suggests there is a camera they are missing. Maria tells Tom that Lt Swanstrom
is talking to the new guy named Asante.

Tom feels with a name like that he must come from someplace irritating but Zayn says he
came from LA and was a profiler with FBI, working the last 2 years with the homicide unit for
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LAPD. He doesn’t think he needs any more time with the file, as he read everything on the plane;
Tom is able to dismiss him so he can confront Swanstrom about not wanting to break in someone
new. She likes that Damien Asante is a go-getter and had specifically asked to be Tom’s partner.

Abigail is attempting to move the salt and pepper shaker with her mind but feels Cassie is
trying to distract her. She asks for some privacy, causing Cassie to remind her that this is her
place and if she feels crowded she doesn’t have to stay with her and she could always go stay
with her mom. Abigail is furious, saying her mom is all about the new baby, Crystal; her anger
causing the shaker to move, something Cassie isn’t happy about.

Asante reviews the case with Zayn and Maria, juggling around ideas off Tom too. Stephen
Archer is Shannon’s boyfriend, but he appears to have an alibi; wondering if he had a partner.
Suddenly there is a ruckus in the office, Tom expressing they have found Shannon. The CSI Unit
is at the beach talking photos of Shannon where they get a time of between 5 and 8 am, that
she was brought there; the camera was cut at 2am, so they know their murderer planned ahead.
They turn over her body and Tom realizes that Cassie was right about the eyes being removed.
Asante wants them to bring Stephen back in, offering to have his friends at Quantico reach out
and help them jump the line with the evidence. Tom excuses himself.

Cassie works with Abigail on her "gift” when she gets a call from Tom, confirming that what
she saw was at least half right. He wants to swing by later, she asks him to bring his friend
from LA. Shortly thereafter, Asante wants to know what they are doing there but Tom keeps
his answers very vague. He asks Asante for his discretion when it comes to Cassie. They are
introduced as Cassie reminds Tom she doesn’t know how helpful she can be as the memory was
pretty terrifying.

Cassie tells Tom the woman was in a freezer like the one in a supermarket. It was on the
beach, but not one she felt was around there. The dead woman was inside and her little boy was
trying to wake her up. Asante questions Cassie about being a psychic. Abigail comes in, singing
the Peter Rabbit song. Abigail figures Cassie wants her to leave them alone and walks away;
right through Asante. He listens to Cassie but when they leave, Asante is surprised that Tom
would use a psychic since he was supposed to be old school. Tom informs him that he helped
raise Cassie, a story that is none of his business. He hopes Asante will change his mind about
partnering with Tom, but Asante says he is sticking around.

Stephen Archer is brought back in for questioning, insisting he didn’t knock down Shannon,
but she fell after she ran into his fist as he was defending himself. He admits she filed a restrain-
ing order after that and hasn’t been in contact with her since. He says he was at home, alone, so
no one else can confirm it.

Asante gets a call from Quantico, saying there was a murderer from Texas a few years earlier
that has the same MO; his name is Ed Roven. Asante feels their guy could be a copycat, but
Tom learns they cannot question Roven as he was executed in 2005, but maybe his "psychic
friend” can help him out. They meet with the ME, Amy Shu, who says the cause of death was
strangulation and if she was raped, he used a condom. The removal of the eyes was done while
she was alive, something not easy to do as the cuts were smooth and no hesitation in them. She
is confident this was done professionally, as Asante says removing the eyes was just a moment
of conscience. Amy gives Tom something that was in her pocket, it is a Peter Rabbit figurine from
about 15 years ago.

Tom comes home to see Cassie sitting on her phone while Brian Currie makes dinner. Cassie
decides to take a shower before she has to head out to work. While in the shower, Cassie clears
her eyes and suddenly finds herself in another bathroom; she steps out putting a robe on but is
startled by a dog barking. She is grabbed from under a crib by a man in a blue cleaning suit and
a mask on his face.

Tom sits with Cassie as she explains that it was nighttime and he must have been hiding
under the bed as he came out of nowhere. Cassie quickly finishes her drink and says she needs
to get to work, leaving Brian questioning Tom about having Cassie work on the case with him.
Brian isn’t mad but he feels if Tom stops using Cassie to help him, maybe the universe and
spirits will leave her alone.

Meanwhile, Asante comes to the bar where Cassie is working. She knows about Peter Rabbit
from Tom, she asks the bartender to leave so she can inform Asante that not everyone knows
about her and she wants to keep it that way. Damien promises he won’'t say anything, wondering
if she has a bird at the morgue who is feeding her intel. She is annoyed that he insults her but
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wants information. She reminds him he has a very open face but she doesn’t see any evidence
of that in their two encounters. She tells him he is easy to read, he doesn’t believe her but he
thinks he can use her. He learns from her that they can’t find Shannon on any security cameras
because she was already gone. She ends her shift, he pays and thanks her for the drink.

Will tells her that he is officially in culinary school, she feels they should celebrate and they
return to her place to have sex. Abigail comes in, saying she knows Cassie was having sex;
explaining how she saw all this at her grandpa’s home. Cassie tells her she can’t spy on her
because if she does it again, she will kick her out. Abigail says Cassie is just like her mom and
doesn’t care about her. She went home to find Crystal in the bath, she wanted something so her
mom rushed in and walked right through her. Cassie says she just pushed her little sister and
she was struggling in the water. Her mom came back, putting Crystal to bed on her back because
its safest; but Abigail thinks a lot of things can happen when people are sleeping. Cassie looks
concerned as Abigail just asked if she left the tv on so she can watch cartoons.

Asante arrives at the crime scene where Tom is already working. Tom reveals everything to
Damien about what Cassie saw that night as Asante says Shannon was found in her own clothes,
making Tom go into her closet; feeling the killer did this to make them think she went to work.
Outside, they go to the garage to find that the battery Shannon bought 5 months earlier for her
car has been swapped out for a dead one. They both realize they have been working off the wrong
timeline and the killer has to be Stephen Archer.

Back at the precinct, Stephen is back in interrogation, where he reaffirms he was at a business
meeting that morning Shannon went missing but he was at home the night before. They confront
him on her going missing the night before, but he swears it isn’t what they think. It looks very
bad, but he needs to tell them the truth; he confesses he has been sleeping with his boss’ wife
and that is why him and Shannon broke up.

Cassie is confronted by Abigail about getting into her business. Cassie says she won't let her
hurt an innocent baby and it isn’t Crystal who took her life, but she is mad because the person
who hurt her is someone she loved. She talks about her grandpa making chocolate for her and
one night she was so sleepy she couldn’t move. Cassie finishes the story saying he gave her too
much one night and she never woke up. Abigail learns that if she told her grandpa that it wasn’t
his fault he probably won’t hear her, so she asks Cassie to do it for her.

Tom spots Asante looking at photos revealing the picture is of his old partner who retired a
few months ago. Archer’s side piece revealed that he was with her that night; they are interrupted
when a file is delivered to them. Asante insults Tom, saying he drinks coffee since this is America.
Tom leaves as Asante watches an interview from the 90s with Roven talking about Megan and
Mark being in the freezer; the boy found the safety latch and found his way out. Asante continues
to watch the screen as Roven sings the Peter Rabbit song into the camera.

Asante arrives at the crack of dawn at Cassie’s place, bringing her "bear claws”. He asks her
about what she saw the other day, something he mocked her about. She doesn’t think Megan
Waterman nor Mark Waterman mean anything to her, but Asante shows her a photo and she
says that is him.

Asante holds a meeting with the police investigating the crime, revealing to them that Mark
Waterman blamed himself for not being able to save his mother and turned into a killer himself.
They learn Mark was also a medic in the military; making Tom realize the paramedic he spoke
to at the scene of the body was Mark and believes he interviewed him at the scene. Once he sees
a photo, he figures out that Mark changed his name to James Stark, dumping Shannon’s body
at the park right before his shift so he could be there when she was discovered. They find an
address and take off to the place.

The house is all clear as Tom sees empty drawers and says that they missed him and he has
gone underground. In the meantime, Cassie goes to see Abigail’'s grandfather in prison telling
him that she knows everything about Abigail’s death; allowing her mother to find her cold dead
daughter in the morning. She is not from the Innocence Project and is there to deliver a message,
saying he will feel the weight resting on his chest and slowly sucking the life out of him; Abigail
wants him to know that is her! Cassie quickly glances in the prison yard, spotting Abigail there
doing cartwheels. She shoves her grandfather, over and over. Cassie waves at Abigail knowing it
is time for her spirit to move on.

Asante and Tom walk in the dark, finding a freezer on the beach; inside the freezer they find
blood and ripped clothing everywhere; Asante calls for back up as they search the freezer. Asante
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just says everything is "all clear” when the killer attacks Tom; Asante is unable to take a shot
from inside the freezer until the fight gets extremely physical. Tom climbs on top of a shot James
Stark and tells him he is under arrest for the death of Shannon Bell, falling to the ground as
sirens approach.

Later on, Tom and Asante arrive at Cassie’s work, her concerned about Tom’s arm. She shares
whiskey with them, learning they are celebrating for catching the guy; toasting each other. Asante
goes to see Sally Bishop at the hospital, revealing he works for Seattle PD. He walks in her room,
pats her hair and kisses her on the forehead, before sitting down, saying he is there now and
with her.

Cassie suddenly wakes up to a man singing Peter Rabbit and finds Ed Roven sitting in her
living room, saying they need to talk!
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Made of Stone

Season 1
Episode Number: 2
Season Episode: 2

4 )
Originally aired: Wednesday June 05, 2019
Writer: Richard Hatem
Director: David Von Ancken
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Michael B. Silver (Brian Currie), Scott Michael Campbell (John
McPherson), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Sean Bolger (Ed Roven),
Bruce Blain (Martin Keel), Naiah Cummins (Uniform Cop), Karen
Khunkhun (News Reporter), Angela Palmer (Sally), Tyson Larter (Ja-
son Sinclair), Leanne Khol Young (Bloody Woman / Christie Marcus),
Lisa MacFadden (Paramedic #1), Robert Zen Humpage (Paramedic #2)

Summary: Tom and Damien enlist Cassie’s help when a mother and her young
son mysteriously vanish; when suspicion turns to the woman’s hus-
band, Cassie’s visions reveal a darker, more vengeful plot. Ed Roven
returns with an offer for Cassie.

The ghost of Ed Roven came back to
haunt Cassie. Cassie was woken up one
night by that creepy song "Peter Rabbit”
and she followed it until she saw Ed.
Ed seemed to know her and she didn’t
know him. Only it didn’t matter to Ed. He
quickly explained how he helped her fa-
ther and now he wants something from
her. He thought he could get Cassie to
return the favor and he had been sur-
prised when Cassie said didn’t care why
he was there. She didn’t! She told him she
wanted nothing to do with him and so she
put up a mental block. It was like locking

- a door for her and she thought that she
was keeping out all the spirits but then she ran into a different ghost on her way to work the
next morning. It was a woman and it was clear that she had been badly beaten up. She was also
holding a baby that she was dripping blood on and she begged Cassie to stop him. Whoever this
"him” was had probably killed the woman and so Cassie couldn’t turn her away.

Cassie called her dad to tell him about it, but the woman she was describing looked nothing
like the woman he was currently looking for. Detective Tom Hackett was searching for Karen
Sinclair and she disappeared with her thirteen-year-old son Jason. Jason’s school called his
father when he failed to show up and it had been the father that reported them missing. Elliott
Sinclair claimed that his family was happy. He said he was about to celebrate his anniversary
with his wife and that she wouldn’t leave. His statements didn’t stop the police from questioning
him because they knew that nine times out of ten that it’s the husband that killed his family.
They therefore began digging through the family’s lives.

There were several surveillance cameras that picked up Karen heading to school and then
she bypassed it. She kept driving and so the detectives questioned if she had bee taking her son
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somewhere else first, but then that doesn’t explain why she didn’t call the school. Even if she
was planning on going on the run with her son then she would have called the school so that
they didn’t sound the alarm. So odds are she wasn'’t in that car alone. Cassie came by the station
because she had wanted to talk about Ed and at first she didn’t want to disrupt her dad at work.
Then she received a vision about being run over by first a white stallion and then a minivan. She
didn’t know what that meant ad so she mentioned it to her dad without bringing the other thing.
Cassie also said that the husband had been driving.

Tom and Damien tried talking to Elliott Sinclair again and they couldn’t find him when they
went looking. He had apparently left behind his coat and his cell phone when he fled the police
station. Tom handed over the cell phone because he wanted to see what secrets it held and he
and Damien were stopped from pursuing Elliott when drones picked up Karen’s car. Her car was
abandoned on the highway and Karen herself was found nearby in the woods. She had been run
over and so Cassie had been right about her. Cassie also had another vision. She saw herself tied
to bed and slowly being bled out alive on camera. She believed that it was probably happening to
Jason and so she called her dad to tell him that Jason might not have long left. Tom asked his
team to identify anyone that could have been purchasing medical equipment in recent months.

He wanted to see if he could find out where their suspect bought his tools, but he came
across information that at least cleared Elliott Sinclair of his family’s injuries. Elliott’s cell phone
revealed that someone texted him with a one-time use link and threatened his son’s life if he
didn’t abandon everything to follow this man’s directions. The kidnapper had said that it was a
punishment for what Elliott did and so the detectives tried to see what could the mild-mannered
man have done that was worth torturing a child. The detectives couldn’t find anything on their
own and so they got lucky. The neighbors had picked up grainy image of someone breaking into
the Sinclairs’ garage. They released this image to the media in hope someone would recognize
the man and a cab driver did.

The cab driver remember picking up a guy that matches the description outside of a hotel
and dropping him off near the Sinclairs’ home. Now, they searched the cab for fingerprints and
they got back the name John McPherson. McPherson reportedly went off the deep end when his
girlfriend and son were run over by a driver that fled the scene. The driver had been driving a
white mustang like the horse and that’s how McPherson found Elliott Sinclair. He hasn’t driven
since 2015 which was around the same time that Christie Marcus was killed with her son. She
died instantly though her son bled out and so that’s what McPherson is doing. He’s recreating
what happened to him because he wanted to punish Elliott for taking his family from him. And
so it wasn’t hard to find McPherson’s current location.

He had all the medical supplies shipped to his place and that’s where they found him as well
as Elliott. Elliott was being forced to watch various footage of his wife being run over and his
son being bled out, but Karen was being treated at the hospital and the boy wasn’t dead yet. He
was still alive and Tom and Damien needed to get his location. They tried guilting McPherson
and even had Elliott confess to his crimes. But it didn’t matter to McPherson. He didn’'t want to
just Elliott, he wanted revenge. He didn’t want Elliott’s son to ever grow up or graduate or go
on his first date. He wanted the boy dead so that Elliott could truly knows how he feels. The
detectives knew they couldn’t break him and so Damien had an idea. He believed they should
trigger another of Cassie’s visions and he told Tom, after Tom tried to warn him off, that it was
up to Cassie to decide what she could or couldn’t deal with.

They went to the bar when it was empty and they handed over cell phone image of Jason’s
torture. They left the choice up to Cassie and she decided to watch it, but before she could she
saw Ed again. He warned her that if she truly wanted to save Jason then she couldn’t shy away
like she does with everything else and so Cassie actually took his advice. She let down her walls
and she saw everything. She saw McPherson taking her out of the car and putting her in a
storage locker. Cassie gave the information to her dad and Tom had cops all over the city looking
into storage lockers. There was about ninety-nine of them and so it wasn’t until they found a
locker rented by someone matching McPherson’s description that they found Jason.

Jason didn’t have a heartbeat when they found him and the medic had to start it up again,
but they did and so Jason was recovering with his mother at the hospital.

It had come as a nasty shock to McPherson who didn’t think it was fair that Elliott’s family
got to live and so it was a good thing McPherson is behind bars.

The detectives thanked Cassie for what she did and Cassie got to speak to Damien alone about
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Sally. She saw her in a vision and Damien looked really happy with her, but Damien said that
Sally’s condition had worsen over time and that she fell into a coma. She wasn’t dead. It’s just
she wasn'’t really alive either. Cassie understood because she remembered her grandma losing
the ability to speak from dementia and Cassie was still able to talk to her. She also offered to sit
by Sally’s bedside to see if she could talk to Sally and Damien took her up on the offer. He didn’t
want Tom to know about Sally because he didn’t want the other man to know why he really came
to Seattle though he was grateful to finally speak about it with someone. Cassie agreed to help
and it wasn’t until later that she ran into Ed again.

Ed gets off on hurting women and by telling Cassie to go in headfirst with her visions he knew
that it would hurt her. Cassie knew it too and so she tried getting rid of him, but he said that
there were things they needed to do first.

Ed left Cassie fearing what could happen next and he probably got a thrill from that as well.
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Where the Shadows Fall

Season 1
Episode Number: 3
Season Episode: 3

e ™)
Originally aired: Wednesday June 19, 2019
Writer: Nick Parker
Director: Ruba Nadda
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Sean Bolger (Ed Roven), Grace Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Tim Ransom
(Hal Weaver), Dakota Guppy (Avery), Dominic Mariche (Ethan Grant),
Aadila Dosani (Vanessa Shaw), Jennifer Kitchen (Carla), Edwin Perez
(Chris), Ninon Parent (The Wraith), Sam Spear (Officer Jansen), Maggie
Ma (Nurse), Quinnie Vu (Peds Nurse), Angela Palmer (Sally Bishop),
Gregory Taven (Maimed Male Ghost)

Summary: Cassie visits the hospital where Damien’s fiancée is being treated and
encounters the spirit of a young boy who needs her help. Her efforts
to unravel the mystery of his death lead her to a world of spirits that
might be more than she can handle.

Cassie made a promise. She promised
Damien that she would try to reach his
flancée Sally. Sally was in a coma and
there was no sign of her waking up, but
Cassie believed she could reach the as-
tral plane where Sally was and finally let
her loved ones know how she was doing.
There was just one problem with reaching
Sally. Sally was at a hospital and those
places were crawling with spirits. Cassie
didn’t know if she could go into a hos-
pital much less survive one and so the
ghost of Ed Roven returned. He offered to
act as a buffer because he said he wants
the boss upstairs to look favorably on him
and Cassie told him to find another sucker. She knew Ed didn’t want to help her and she figured
she could handle herself.

Cassie entered the hospital and she blocked out everyone. She didn’t put her barriers down
until she was in Sally’s room and that’s when something odd happen. Cassie had a vision of
being pushed out the window. She thought it was Sally and that maybe the other woman didn’t
want her there, but she might have been wrong. There was an incident at the hospital. A nurse
fell off the roof and it was looking like she was pushed. The nurse’s name was Grace Murrow
and she reportedly went to the roof to smoke. She was up there for a few minutes when everyone
heard the crash and came out to see Grace lying on the ground. Grace’s best friend Vanessa said
that she believed Grace was seeing a married man and that would add up with what the police
found.

The police saw the bruises on Grace’s legs. It seems her attacker had grabbed a hold of her leg
and flipped her over the ledge on the roof. So say her married lover panicked over the affair or he
was worried it might get out — he could have killed her to put an end to it. Grace was known to
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practically live at work and so her lover could work at the hospital as well. It would explain how
he knew about the roof. The roof was considered the party spot because the cameras up there
didn’t always work. Someone knew that they could reach Grace on her own and kill her without
ever being seen by another living soul. Cassie on other hand isn't like everyone. She had other
visions when she was at the hospital. She saw a little boy that identified himself as Ethan Grant.

Ethan Grant warned her that she needed to go because the woman doesn’t like it when others
come and not long after he said that there was an old lady screaming at Cassie to "LEAVE HER
BOY ALONE". It scared Cassie right out of the vision and she was leaving when she ran into her
dad. She tried to tell him that she was there for something else when she had a vision, but the
truth came out anyways. Damien chose to come clean and he admitted that Cassie was at the
hospital as a favor to him. Hackett was willing to accept that Cassie does want to help people
and so all he asked was that there would be no more secrets. Hackett also tried talking to Cassie
and he told her that he could handle the case on his own. He didn’t want her going back to the
hospital.

Hackett was just trying to protect Cassie, but she was the only one that could help Ethan and
so she went back to the hospital. She even went down to the basement to trigger another vision
and that’s when she saw that it was just Ethan that was trapped down there. They were all being
held prisoner by the elderly woman and the one person that Cassie could talk to was a little girl
dying from cancer. The little girl's name was Avery. She could see Ethan too because she was
close to death and so she helped Cassie. She told Cassie what it had been like for Ethan when he
died. He described it as an allergic reaction to something he was injected with and that’s when
Cassie knew his death was suspicious.

Grace as it turns out thought the same. She was the nurse on duty when Ethan died and she
wanted an inquiry into his death. She didn’t believe it was natural causes like Dr. Shane Vogel
implied. Grace suspected there was more going on and she died before she drew attention. Cassie
believed she found Ethan’s killer and that this person killed the other people in the basement.
This means the police were looking for a serial killer. Not just any serial killer, but An Angel of
Mercy. That’s when someone believes they're helping the patients by easing their deaths and the
truth is its their justification for doing something they always wanted to. They were also killing
children and so the detectives went through the many patients that died at the hospital and the
one that died at night. They found several cases and so Hackett showed the photos of the victim
to Cassie.

Cassie didn’t recognize many of the patients, but she did recognize the old lady. The old
woman was actually Dr. Vogel's mother and she died at the hospital. It turns out she was her
son’s first victim. She was dying slowly and so her son claimed he saw a halo around her head
that showed she was ready to go. Dr. Vogel also used his friendship with the hospital adminis-
trator and the fact he knew the man was sleeping with Grace to his advantage. He got several
emergency badges made up by claiming his nurse kept losing hers and then he would use thee
drug succinylcholine on his victims. It was a paralytic and it cane someone pretty fast. It only
reacted like it did with Ethan because had had an undiagnosed allergy to the stuff. And his rash
was what alerted Grace.

Grace was killed for asking too many question, but the doctor was still at the hospital. The
detectives raced over there and they tried to arrest him only he used the drugs he had to inject
himself. Vogel killed himself using the same drugs he used on his victims. But his mother was
still protecting him in the afterlife. She was harboring souls because she didn’'t want the truth of
what he was doing to get out and so Cassie confronted her. Cassie told the woman that her son
was dead and that the only way she could continue to protect him was if she followed her son
into the afterlife. It was enough to get the old woman to leave the patients alone and they were
finally able to find peace.

But Cassie failed to do the one thing she promised. She never did reach Sally and she doesn’t
know if she ever will because there were just certain souls that never visit her.

Like her own mother for one.
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Kiss Them for Me

Season 1
Episode Number: 4
Season Episode: 4

Writer:
Director:
Show Stars:

Guest Stars:

Sumimary:

Originally aired:

Wednesday July 03, 2019

Gabirielle Stanton, Nick Parker

Milena Govich

Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-
ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Anne Leighton (Edie De Forest), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Grace
Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Stephen Lobo (Louis Kelly), Kwesi Ameyaw
(Principal Switzer), Nick Wolfhard (Eric Vaughn), Jordyn Ashley Ol-
son (Kaitlyn De Forest), Abby Ross (Tiffany Evers), Jennifer Cop-
ping (Denise Tennant), Brad Dryborough (Graham Tennant), Ja-
son Beaudoin (Dean Smith), Sandy Robson (Rick De Forest), CIiff
Prang (Evan Miller), David Quinlan (Lawrence Vaughn), Gabriel Jacob-
Cross (Kip Collins), Lillian Lim (Homeless Woman), Quinton Boisclair
(Mr. Nightfall), Keiran Bohay (Dancer), Shae Bourne (Dancer), Kelsey
Chace (Dancer), Mariesa Crouse (Dancer), Michael Culp (Dancer),
Amanda Gray (Uniform Cop), Chanel Lacasse (Dancer), Billy Mustapha
(Dancer), Richard O’Sullivan (Dancer), Christina Schell (Dancer),
Kevin Tookey (Dancer)

Tom and Damien track a mysterious killer who has targeted several
kids at the same high school. Cassie tries to help a woman solve her
own death while her anxious family waits for news about her disap-
pearance.

Cassie had a vision. It wasn’t triggered by
anything and it didn’'t stem from Cassie
having involved herself in one of her dad’s
case, but one moment she was fine and
in another she was being buried alive by
the Grim Reaper. The mythological figure
was even wearing a hooded robe. Cassie
never saw the man’s face nor she did
know why this person targeted her and
so she had no idea what the figure stood
for. Sometimes some of her visions were
metaphors. They usually held some sig-
nificance no matter how small and so
Cassie informed her dad. He was the cop
and if he saw or heard something that

sounded like her vision then it must've mean it’s important. And at first Tom hadn’t known
how to help Cassie, so it wasn’t later that Tom connected her vision to his case.

Tom and Damien were assigned to a case involving a family’s murder. Evan Miller and his
teenage son Michael had been killed at their house. Nothing was taken from the house and so
it couldn’t have been a robbery, but it sure looked like someone broke in for the sole purpose of
killing two members of the Miller family. The wife Barbara hadn’t been at home and she didn’t
know why anyone had killed her son as well as her husband. Her husband received threats all
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the time as a defense lawyer. Evan Miller had recently gotten a murderer off the hook and he
had been threatened by the victim’s family. Dean Smith had also gone on key Miller’s car and for
that he got beaten up by Michael.

Michael was seventeen and reportedly had a temper. He beat the crap out of Smith. Michael
had to be pulled off of him and Smith was still recovering from the assault. Smith told the police
everything that happened that day and he also added that he hadn’t killed anyone. He told the
police that if anything they should be looking at Michael’s enemies rather than his father’s. The
police did follow up that lead and that’s how they found out that Michael was a bully. He and his
friend Pete Collins used to be up to no good and then something changed. They would go to the
school bully and complain to the school therapist about Mr. Nightfall. Mr. Nightfall started off
as a ghost story and then it morphed into something real. Real enough that the boys were truly
scared of Mr. Nightfall.

Mr. Nightfall was a Grim Reaper who didn’'t have a face and who showed no one any mercy.
He was also a creation of Michael and Pete before the story turned against them. The boys both
complained to Dr. Kelly. Kelly thought it was a fanciful tale and yet it reminded Tom of Cassie’s
vision. Cassie saw the Grim Reaper bury her alive and so that begged the question what did the
boys do? They must have been punished for a reason. Michael was killed with his father and then
later Pete was murdered with his parents. Both were killed for a reason and so the detectives
asked if there had been an issue at school. The principle denied anything happened and he said
that the school has zero tolerance for bullies. And so the only thing he could think about, when
asked if anything happened recently, was Bradley Tennant’s suicide.

Bradley used to go to school with the boys. He skipped a few grades and so he was younger
and smaller than everybody else, but he never let that bother him. Bradley didn’t care about
being popular because he had his own interests. Bradley it seems had been with his lot when
he suddenly went to the school dance with the popular mean girl around. Tiffany Evers was not
the sort to ask someone like Bradley to a dance and for some reason she did. She claimed it was
done in thanks because he helped her on an assignment and so no one suspected any differently.
Not even Bradley’s parents. They still don’t know what happened afterwards. They just thought
Bradley became depressed and didn’t want to leave the house because of the depression.

The truth however was very different. The detectives talked to Tiffany and she admitted that
she had been forced to ask Bradley to the dance by Michael and Pete. The guys had cooked up
a prank in which they took Bradley out into the woods to find Mr. Nightfall and she didn’t see
them again. All she knew was that after the night that's when everything else started. She and
the others received bursts threatening them. These bursts were from an app that deleted things
after twenty seconds and so no one believed the kids when they tried to tell the adults. Also, with
the others dead, it was only Tiffany still receiving them and so she agreed to help the cops. They
moved her family into protective custody and then they used her phone to lure out the killer.

The detectives were busy doing this as Cassie ran into a ghost. It wasn’t the ghost of Bradley
Tennent, but it was someone that needed her help. Edina De Forest went to the supermarket
and never came back. She told Cassie didn’t remember what happened and Cassie soon figured
out that was a lie. She found out that Edina was an addict. She lied to her family all the time
and she repeated her behavior in death to Cassie. Cassie tried to give her the benefit of the doubt
in the beginning and she came to regret that decision when everything found out proved Edina
had overdosed. She even went to a supermarket miles away from her home because she wanted
to hit the heavy drug area nearby. And so Cassie found her body, but it brought back memories
of her own mother’s addition.

Cassie also experienced a new vision about Tom’s case. She saw a teenager being buried alive
and it hadn’t been Bradley. It was actually Bradley’s best friend Eric Vaugh. He was arrested
when the "bursts” lead back to his own phone and it was also a matter of record that his family
owns a gun that they reported missing right before the murders. The detectives took this all to
mean Eric was their killer and so they had reveal what really happened to Bradley. Bradley as
it turns out had been happy with not being popular and so the one with the problem was Eric.
Eric wanted Michael and Pete’s approval so badly that he told them that Bradly had a thing for
Tiffany. He thought the guys were just going to pull a harmless prank and in reality it was much
worse.’

Michael and Pete threw Bradley into a coffin and buried him alive. They left him like that for an
hour and, when they got him out of the ground, they could see he vomited and peed on himself.
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Bradley was never okay afterwards and that’s why he killed himself. Eric had felt guilty about
the part he played in everything and that’s why he texted everyone responsible those bursts. And
then he stopped. Eric stopped when he saw that the two kids had died and so that’s how Cassie’s
vision helped. She saw in her own way that someone was trying to pin everything on Eric and it
got her father as well as Damien to question the evidence. They found out that someone could
have faked Eric’s later texts if they cloned his phone and the last time it was out reach had been
was when Eric handed it over to Dr. Kelly.

The therapist was there to the help the kids and so no one knew why he would turn on those
same kids, but then they found out about his son. His son had been bullied to death and that’s
why Bradley’s story resonated with Dr. Kelly. The doctor had seen too many bullies go on to
become abusive parents and future rapists. He felt that it was time that someone finally showed
them zero policy and that’s why he killed them.

Tom and Damien arrested the good doctor and they thanked Cassie for helping out.

Maybe she’ll even get another chance to help Damien’s girlfriend now that there’s been some
fluctuation in Sally’s brain activity.
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Another Broken Morning

Season 1
Episode Number: 5
Season Episode: 5

4 N\
Originally aired: Wednesday July 10, 2019
Writer: Julia Fontana
Director: David Grossman
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Sarah Abbott (Abigail Coleman), Jason Asuncion (Col. Denila), Anne
Dudek (Hannah Foreman), Carlo Fortin (@), Ian Hawes (Detective),
Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Grace Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Michael
B. Silver (Brian Currie), Abiola Uthman (Uniform #1), Nicholas Dohy
(Patron)

Sumimary: Cassie is drawn to a young mother who needs her help and encounters
young Abigail once again. Tom and Damien investigate a complicated
murder that has international ramifications.

Cassie woke up to the sound of a crying
baby. She never saw the baby and so she
wouldn’t be able to identify him or her.
All she knows is that there’s a baby out
there crying. Cassie didn't know what to
do about it and that's why she initially
chose to ignore it. She thought it would
go away on its own. Only it didn’t and
the sound soon caused her to have a mi-
graine. It was so bad that Cassie took
time off work. She couldn’t function with
the baby’s ongoing cries and it wasn’t
helping when she received another vision.
This time she saw a horned monster. The
monster was coming out of a leafless tree
and the tree itself had been bleeding. Cassie didn’t know what any of it meant and so she called
her dad.

Tom was working a case at the time and none of what Cassie told him seemed to be connected
to his own case. It was because he didn’'t see any connection that Tom later told Damien they
would have to bench the vision. They believed they were needed in the drive-by shooting involving
Mia Fuentes who was running for City Council and her campaign team. Her campaign manager
Edwin Bernal was Killed at the scene. As for Fuentes, she was rushed to the hospital and her
condition is still touch and go. There was nothing the detectives could do about Cassie’s vision
and so they tried to find out who murdered Bernal. They talked to witnesses who saw a man on
the motorcycle open fire.

They followed up their interviews there with Fuentes’s husband and that’s when they learned
Edwin had been in a fight recently. He was seen arguing with Olly Navarro and Olly was a part
of the campaign team as well. Or at least he was before he got into a fight with Edwin. Edwin
told everyone that the fight was nothing important and yet no one saw Olly again. Olly drives a
motorcycle and he must have known the campaign’s route. They left through the backdoor which
shouldn’t have been known to some random Kkiller and so that again put Olly in the mix. Tom
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and Damien tried to find Ollie and they couldn’t. They thought maybe they could get something
off the bike.

The bike appeared to be a label with some gang numbers. The gang was known as VB16 and
it mostly enlisted Asians like Olly. If Olly went to them to hide then there was no telling where
he could end up. Tom and Olly still went to the usual spots for VB16 and one place had a sign
of a tree without leaves. Both men realized that the building must hold some importance and so
they searched it for any sign of Olly. They first found the blood and later they found Olly’s body
in a barrel. He was most likely killed by VB16. The detectives were trying to figure out if it was
before or after the shooting while Cassie was finally doing something about the baby’s cries. She
took time off work and as she got in the car she was slowly directed to the baby.

The baby’s name is Crystal. She was found on the floor alongside her mother who was bleeding
and so Cassie called "911”. It was only after she made the call that Abigail showed herself. Abigail
told Cassie that she wasn’t wasting her time there because the woman on the floor was her
mother and her mother had gotten beaten up by her boyfriend. The boyfriend got mad when
his breakfast wasn’t on his table in time. Abigail says that’s usually all the boyfriend needed to
start in on Hannah and that Hannah wasn'’t going to do anything about it. She’ll end up making
excuses for the bad boyfriend like she always does. Abigail told Cassie all of this and then she
told her that she didn’t want to help her mom.

Abigail was angry with her mother. She blames her mom for her death and she even blames
her for what clothes she’s forced to wear. Abigail sends she hated the dress that her mom put
her in. She also claims if her mother hadn’t had her cremated that maybe she wouldn’t be forced
to wear the same clothes she was murdered in and so Cassie told her to cut it out. Cassie said
the only reason Abigail is stuck is that she allows her anger to keep her stuck. Abigail wants to
blame everyone for what happened to her and she calls her mom weak because the woman didn’t
want to watch the cremation. Nevermind that watching her daughter burn would be traumatic
enough, Abigail held no sympathy for Hannah and she wants her mother to suffer.

Cassie blamed herself for how angry Abigail has gotten. She took Abigail to the prison because
she thought the little girl would find comfort in hurting the man that killed her and all it did was
make her worse. Abigail wanted everyone to be as unhappy as she was. She thought if she hurt
her mom then it would make her feel better and it never would. It wouldn’t change the fact that
Abigail’s grandfather molested her or that he murdered her one night to stop her from talking.
Her mother didn’'t know what was going on or that Abigail needed someone to talk to and so
Cassie went back to Hannah’s. She waited for the boyfriend to leave with the baby and, once he
did, Cassie went to go speak to Hannah.

Hannah wasn't sure of Cassie because Cassie might have seen too much that day or figured
out her boyfriend hits her, but Cassie told her outright that she had been guided to the house
by Abigail. Abigail was still around and she could hear her mother. Cassie made up the part of
how Abigail wasn’t angry anymore and that she didn’t blame her mother. Except it was done for
all the right reasons. Cassie talked to her dads about it and she was told that Hannah could be
staying with her boyfriend as a way to punish herself for not helping her daughter. Cassie didn’t
want Hannah to hold onto that pain. She told Hannah that she could talk to Abigail and that
Abigail only wanted the best for her. And so that helped Hannah.

Hannah started talking to her daughter. She told Abigail about her sister Molly and how Molly
killed herself when she was fifteen. Hannah didn’t realize until after Abigail died that her father
could have been molesting Molly as well. Hannah admitted to her mistakes and how she should
have seen the signs. She also blames herself for what happened to Molly. Molly wasn’t around
anymore to hear Hannah’s apology and so Hannah made sure to apologize to Abigail. And it
actually helped. Abigail realized she was angry with how short her life ended. She wanted the
chance to grow up and she hates that she never will. Abigail decided to take Cassie’s advice and
she slowly gave up her anger.

Abigail’'s mom in the meantime decided to do something about domestic violence. She agreed
to speak to Brian and Brian helped her figure out her options. Hannah was finally going to get
the help she needed and it was when she thought she was safe that the boyfriend attacked her.
Abigail saw it and so she went screaming to Cassie. Cassie was trying to help even as she was
juggling visions. The visions of the horned monster was indeed a part of Tom’s case. Olly, as it
turns out, was never in a gang because he had been messed up as a child and so his friend, who
did belong to VB16, had given Olly the gang tags so that everyone would know he was protected.
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Olly himself wasn’t a violent man.

Therefore, it didn’t make sense why Olly had been tortured and killed. His friend Q said that
Olly got a job on the campaign from Edwin because Edwin and Olly were from the same village.
They were both from Takaban and so the detectives looked it up. There was a village once named
Takaban and then it had been wiped out in 2001. The village fell under the sway of a man named
Nimuel and he started up a doomsday cult after an eclipse as well as a sacred animal washing
up on the shore had been enough signs to convince him the world was ending. Edwin’s family
had left the Philippines before Nimuel took over and the man who threatened, torture, and Kkill
anyone that didn’t believe in his vision.

Nimuel had hired mercenaries to keep his people in line and it worked until he heard a rumor
that the mainland was going to intervene. That’s when he ordered the mercenaries to kill everyone
though somehow Olly survived. He went into the foster care system and when he came to the
states he ran into Edwin. Edwin gave Olly the job of canvassing and that brought to plenty of
doors. Unfortunately, Olly ran into a man Colonel Denila and Denila was part of the mercenaries
that killed his family. Olly tried to tell Edwin about it and Edwin mustn’'t have thought it real
because he ignored it.

Olly knew he was right and so he tried to do something about it. Before he could, Denila
tortured and then killed him. Olly admitted he told Edwin about him and so Denila killed Edwin
as well. Denila tried covering his tracks and luckily it didn’t work because the detectives had
Cassie. Cassie saw Denila’s boat and so the detectives found Denila at the docks. They were able
to arrest him and finally bring the war criminal to justice. Only Cassie’s case with Hannah took
an unexpected turn. Hannah had killed her boyfriend. The boyfriend had come home early and
he saw her packing. He threatened to kill her and had even grabbed a knife because he said he
would kill the baby. And so Hannah snapped because she was never going to allow another man
to hurt her child.

Hannah repeatedly stabbed her boyfriend and she killed him. Thankfully, it was considered
in self-defense and so no one was going to be pressing charges. Brian was even willing to talk to
Social Services and, with him in her corner, Hannah wasn’t going to lose her baby.

Hannah and Crystal were safe now and that gave Abigail comfort.

Also, Abigail figured it was her Aunt Molly that led Cassie to the house and so she wants to
go and find her.

Abigail was wearing a new dress and she told Cassie that she’s found hope.

19



The InBetween Episode Guide

20



The InBetween Episode Guide

The Length of a River

Season 1
Episode Number: 6
Season Episode: 6

4 N\
Originally aired: Wednesday July 17, 2019
Writer: Gabirielle G. Stanton
Director: Alex Zakrzewski
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Grace Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Crystal Dalman (Shelly Edwards), Shi-
raine Haas (Reporter), Chasten Harmon (Melinda Weller), Andres
Joseph (Zayn Meier), Heidi Niedermeyer (Lyla), Michael B. Silver (Brian
Currie), Luke Sykes (Ashley Bennett)

Summary: When a serial killer strikes again, Cassie allows her visions to lead
Tom and Damien toward the killer, leading to an unexpected twist in
the investigation. Cassie also helps an old friend search for peace after
the death of a loved one.

There was a killer on the loose. Three
newlywed couples have been killed over
the past three years and by the same
killer. He or she has all killed them the
same way. The husband was tortured
before he was killed and the wife was
usually drowned. No one knew why the
killer chose these same methods nor has
there ever been any messages left behind,
but the killer strikes every year on the
same day. It was so much of a routine
that some could even call it an obses-
sion. There has never been a year that
the killer has let this one day go by with-
out incident and so the police made sure
they were all on alert. They even held an internal briefing on it. They advised all officers not to
dismiss any calls from people that feel like they’ve been followed.

The Killer likes to stalk their victims first. They would follow them for a while to learn these
couples’ schedules and they wouldn’t make a move if their intended victims haven’t been married
for less than a year. More than that and they would be out of the running. The killer only likes
newlyweds. The police thought they could catch this person before they strike and unfortunately,
Cassie told them they were too late. She saw the latest victim. Cassie had another vision of a
woman being drowned and she knew it was too late to save her. Cassie didn’t really get to see the
face. She was of no help to her dad and so he was trying to figure out what to do when suddenly
the call came in.

Another couple had been murdered. Shelly and Jim Edwards had been in the same way as
the other couples, but this time Jim had broken free of his restraints and he called 911. He
was killed before he could give the address only that part didn’t matter. Jim sped up the killer’s
timeline with what he did and that finally meant the killer made a mistake. There were pink
carnations left behind at the scene. There weren’t any flowers in the house and so the police
asked the couple’s relatives. Shelly’s sister said Jim loved to send Shelly flowers and Shelly’s
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coworkers said those flowers were typically roses. The coworker also mentioned how someone
left pink carnations at the gym. The sender left it at the back door and it didn’t come with a card.

Shelly knew her husband was smarter than that and so she suspected her ex of leaving the
flowers for her. Shelly called up her ex a few months back because she said marriage was harder
than she thought. They then carried on an affair and it ended without Jim ever finding out. Shelly
had wanted to leave it at that and then the flowers came. The police spoke to the ex and he didn’t
leave those flowers. He said Shelly confronted him and that he told her the same thing. He didn’t
know who was messing with her, just that it was not him. So that told the police plenty. They
realized the killer was bringing the pink carnations to send their victims a message and that they
also brought these flowers to the crime scene.

The Kkiller likes to kill the couple in front of each other so that the other could see their
spouses’ pain. Damien profiled the killer and he believes the killer was a man whose wife or
fiancée left him for another man. The cop explained it as the Killer killing the woman that left
him and punishing the man that stole her away. It made a lot of sense and in these cases the
police like to believe a killer is a man, but then they found the delivery man that dropped off the
flowers and he identified the person that made the order as a woman. The description he gave
her also reminded the police of someone else. It reminded them of Lyla. Lila was the woman that
ran the Newlywed Women Support Group.

Lyla must have heard how hard it was on these women who were married and were struggling
with making compromises. It must have hurt her especially because of her own history. Lyla was
supposed to get married when her fiancée left her on their wedding day and for the wedding
planner. Lyla had a nervous breakdown afterward. It was canceling her Pink Carnations themed
wedding that did it and so everyone thought she would get better with time. Except for Lyla
still couldn’t let it go. She resented the women that she felt didn’t want their husbands and it
reminded her of her wedding planner. The other woman had told her that she never wanted to
get married. Then Lyla later hears how Ashley had to beg her to marry him and that’s what set
her off.

Lyla also had enough of her surrogates. She went after her ex-fiancé and his wife, but the
police knew she was already there thanks to another vision from Cassie and so they sped up to
find Lyla in the middle of her torture routine. She was going on about men wanting women that
didn’t want them. She wanted to show her former fiancée Ashley that his wife never cared about
him and she still does. Lyla though to win over Ashley with her torture routine and this time the
police were there to stop her. Tom had her looking one way and Damien shot her from another.
They took down a serial killer and they saved the lives of the Bensons. Damien, however, took it
hard when he realized how wrong he was with his profile.

Damien felt the killer would have gotten away if they hadn’t gotten lucky with the delivery
guy and Cassie thought differently. She, like him, can only interpret what's in front of them.
Sometimes they’ll get it right and sometimes they’ll get it wrong. Cassie didn’t think Damien
should blame himself over it.

Cassie ran into an old friend from high school and she helped her find closure after her fiancée
died, so this time she got it but one can never tell what is right or best in the long run.
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Let Me in Your Window

Season 1
Episode Number: 7
Season Episode: 7

4 N\
Originally aired: Wednesday July 24, 2019
Writer: Karen Wyscarver, Sanford Golden
Director: Romeo Tirone
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Sean Bolger (Ed Roven), Reilly Dolman (Max Geoghan), Marco Grazzini
(Gio Salonga), Chasten Harmon (Melinda Weller), lan Hawes (Detec-
tive), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Sunita Prasad (Vera Salonga), Molly
C. Quinn (Andrea Squire), Malcolm Sparrow-Crawford (Leon Rhodes)

Summary: Tom and Damien race to stop a serial pyromaniac before he can strike
again. Cassie suspects there’s something evil going on with the new
bartender at work. Things take a turn for Sally, Damien’s comatose
girlfriend.

Cassie’s latest vision involved fire. She
saw her bobble-head melt in front of like
it was melted, but then this vision was
followed by a second one and that time
she saw herself burn up in her car. Cassie
called her father once she calmed down
and he was able to correlate her vision
with his case. Tom and Damien were in-
vestigating a car fire. The car were typ-
ically handled by fire investigators. This
time it was the fire investigators that said
the fire wasn’'t accidental and they be-
lieved the victim had been targeted. The
victim’s name was Neil Stern. He was go-
ing through a contentious divorce with
his wife Lidia and they were fighting over the house. Neil seemed like he wasn’t ready to back
down when death ultimately forced him to.

Therefore, it was up to the detectives to determine if Lidia Stern burnt her husband alive
over a house. They found out from the fire investigators that the car itself had been rigged.
The detectives questioned if Lidia would be capable of it and she didn’t seem the type. She was
however rich enough to hire someone. The detectives found her too credible of a suspect to ignore
and so they tracked down Lidia. Lidia seemed to be in mourning. She did tell them that Neil's
death was shocking and she was also quick to explain herself. She said that Neil had changed
the locks on her. She claimed to have no way of interfering with her car and the detectives later
found out that was a lie because she found a way to circumvent the locks.

They also learned that Lidia had a new boyfriend. She bought him an expensive watch long
after she filed for divorce and so the detectives suspected she might have gotten her new boyfriend
to help hill her husband. The detectives tried speaking to Lidia again, but the arsonist got to her
first and so she had also been burned alive in her car. The husband’s death was explainable and
the detectives were at a lost with Lidia’s death. They didn’t know why anyone would want to kill
her. They looked into possible enemies and the only one they ran across was Gio Salonga. He
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was also the one that found Neil’s body. It turns out he had been fired from a job at their house
and it left him short ten thousand dollars.

If the ten thousand dollars was what got him angry then there was a chance he killed Lidia as
well. The detectives investigated any possible link and they soon found evidence that Gio was the
mystery boyfriend. He couldn’t risk getting involved in a murder investigation because he was
also going through a nasty situation. Gio was fighting his ex for custody and that’s why he didn’t
say anything at the scene. He apologized for that because he truly didn’t mean to mislead the
cops. He also didn’t hide the fact that he was in a relationship with Lidia and he said she gave
him the watch to sell because she knew he needed money. He wasn’t quite over the setback from
the Stern job. He was still in debt and so the detectives believe that it still gave him a motive.

They decided to watch Gio. They thought that he would make a mistake with something or
someone and they didn’t account for being a possible target. The arsonist had attacked Gio next.
His office had been rigged to blow the moment he came in and so there was nothing the detectives
could do about it. All they could do was try. They grabbed Gio and doused him. The police also
turned to Gio’s ex-wife because she was the only person left that could have targeted two of the
victims. They went to Vera Salonga’s home and they tried to talk to her, but her son Gabe almost
burnt them up. Gabe thought he was protecting his mother and it seems that wasn’t the only
time he turned to violence. Gabe was just a kid and yet he was their arsonist.

The police brought Gabe in. He came with his lawyer rather than his mother and he was
questioned about the murders. Gabe was still young and therefore impressionable. He confessed
to the murders. Gabe said that his mother has been upset for a long time and that she usually
leans on him. The woman has been telling how hurt she is and how people should pay. And
sometimes she lets it go, but it was different recently and she gets going on and on about Lidia.
She blamed Lidia for Gio not wanting to come home and so she got her son to help commit the
murders. Vera helped over the wall of the house and she, unfortunately, got her cars wrong.
Gabe thought he was rigging Lidia’s car when he accidentally he rigged her husband’s.

Gabe got the second job done right when he and his mother realized their mistake. But his
dad still didn’t want to make things work with Vera and so that’s when Vera had her son teach
her how to rig Gio’s office. She had to do that job herself because her son liked his dad too much
to follow her orders on that one. And as it happens, Gabe only knew how to do all of that because
he likes working on cars with his dad.

The detectives later talked about it and no one was sure if Gabe should be charged an adult.
It wasn'’t his fault that his mother manipulated him and convinced him that if he didn’t help her
that she might kill herself, but one way or another, the boy was still going to have to pay for
trying to make his mother happy.

There was also another situation with Cassie. Her newest coworker had a stalker that's one
of the undead. He stalked her in life and he was still following her around even in death. Both
Cassie and Andy could sense his presence because it would give them migraines. It got so bad
that Cassie admitted her secret to Andy. She told her that she could see dead people and she also
provided proof that she wasn't just lying. Cassie went on to tell Andy that she knew a vanishing
spell when the truth was much darker. Cassie had apparently let the ghost of a serial killer in
because she wanted his help. She wanted Ed to kill the ghost that was stalking her friend and
he proved willing to do it if it got him access to Cassie.

Cassie was going to have to let down her walls in the future, but it was worth it to finally give
Andy peace and it also taught Cassie a new form of exorcising unwanted ghosts.

Cassie was finishing up the exorcism when she saw Damien’s fiancée Sally and so she went
to the hospital to be there for Damien. He hadn’t known that Sally found the ring and it gave him
his own closure he realized that she had been just as excited about it as he was.
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While the Song Remains the Same

Season 1
Episode Number: 8
Season Episode: 8

4 N\
Originally aired: Wednesday July 31, 2019
Writer: Anderson Mackenzie
Director: PJ Pesce
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Michael B. Silver (Brian Currie), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Grace
Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Nicholas Lea (Jace Gray), Sonja Bennett (Tay-
lor Hall), David Paetkau (Luke Hall), Sarah Strange (Esther Legato),
Benita Ha (Dr. Lucy Argonne), Bradley Stryker (Bruno Legato), Eli
Gabay (Goldie), Jennifer Koenig (Dorothy), Sam Robert Muik (Billy
Larkin), Cameron McDonald (Albert), Richard Keats (Dr. Dylan Lewis),
Sarah Porchetta (Tarot Card Woman), Megan Peta Hill (Holly Ander-
son), lan Harmon (Memorial Attendee), Yorkie Joaquin (Memorial At-
tendee), Taiga Seiya (Jace Gary’s Band Member)

Summary: Tom and Damien investigate the mysterious death of a vibrant young
woman, while Cassie’s visions reveal a complicated family story. Cassie
also encounters an idol from her childhood in the InBetween and helps
him right some past wrongs.

,‘7 Cassie has tremendous abilities. There is
no doubt about it and in all honesty, no
one was questioning it, but sometimes it
does take a toll. Cassie doesn’t just see
her visions. She goes into them and of-
ten experiences it as if she was the vic-
tim. Her latest vision involved stabbing.
Cassie felt like she was being stabbed
and she saw the perpetrator as a faceless
individual wielding a sword. She didn’t
know what it meant so she called her dad.
Cassie told him about the sword and it
didn’t seem to have any bearing on Tom’s
case. He was investigating a severed arm
that washed up onshore. Only it was sev-
ered from a propeller and so the rest of her body was most likely at the bottom of the sea.

The CSI team even ran a print from the arm. It belonged to a Holly Anderson and she was
a free spirit tarot reader. Holly apparently told her sister that it was her purpose. Her sister
her believed her because she wanted Holly to be happy while the sister’s husband was a little
more skeptical. He said Holly often found her purpose. None of the other times have ever worked
out and he had no reason to believe the tarot cards business was going to be it for Holly. She
reportedly never stuck it to the end. Holly could afford to be a free spirit because she had a trust
fund and she also knew her sister would lend her some money. Again, the sister didn’t and the
husband may have. They just weren’t viable suspects because Holly’s ring had been missing.

Holly had an emerald ring she inherited from her grandmother. Her sister said it worth ten
thousand dollars and it hadn’t been found with the body. Tom and Damien then decided to check
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with Madam Coco. The woman who hired Holly was known for assault as well as fraud and so
they asked her about Holly. Things between them had allegedly cooled when Holly tried asking
for money. She wanted ten thousand dollars and she wasn’t going to get it from Madam Coco.
Holly also never offered her ring. Madam Coco said she never would have accepted second-hand
jewelry even it was offered and so the detectives decided to ask the woman something else. They
asked her if there was any tarot card that had swords.

Luckily, there was a card with swords. It was the only one in the deck and it symbols betrayal,
loss, crisis, and even death. Tom thought that maybe that’s why Cassie had her vision. She saw
the death as it was happening and Holly was targeted. She was attacked over what was probably
her ring. It would look good enough for an ex-con and as it happens one of those had sold
the ring to a pawnbroker. The pawnbroker could also describe the guy with prison tattoos. The
description led the detectives to Bruno Legato and the guy tried to make a run for it when he
saw the cops, but they caught up with him quickly enough. They later brought Bruno in for
questioning and he fed them a story about being friends with Holly.

Bruno claims that Holly came to him for the money when she was turned down elsewhere. He
also says that Holly couldn’t turn to her sister this time and that’s why she was willing to give up
her ring as collateral. Bruno was only supposed to hold onto it until she could pay him back. So
the detectives didn’t really believe that drug dealer was telling them the truth. They thought he
was lying to them and so they were going to ignore him until they heard about the postmortem.
It turns out Holly was newly pregnant. It could explain why she needed the money and was so
desperate that she gave up her grandmother’s ring. It could also explain why Holly was hanging
out with Bruno. Bruno was married and he or his wife could have killed her.

Tom and Damien spoke to Madam Coco again about her husband Bruno and she told them
that her husband couldn’t have gotten Holly pregnant because her husband got a vasectomy.
Whoever it was that got Holly pregnant, it wasn’t Bruno and so the detectives were back to the
drawing board. They didn’t know where to look when Cassie came to them with another vision.
She saw a woman with a baby and she had thought it was related to another case she was
working. Cassie had run into the dead Rockstar Jace Gray. Gray had wanted her to pass on a
message to his son and he made a critical mistake with Cassie. He lied to her when she was only
trying to help. Gray said that he wanted to meet the son he never got to meet in life and there
was a story behind it.

Gray was a stoned-out rocker. He didn’t want to be a dad and so he ignored even when the
woman came to him in need because she was dying of cancer. Gray told his lawyers to make it go
away and that’s what they did. They told the young woman to desist and she did. She eventually
died and there was no one to take care of her son. He ended up being put into care and it was
only by chance that Billy was lucky. He was taken in by a good family. Cassie went to see him
and she was there when Billy told his real dad (as in the man that raised him) that he got into
Yale. It had been a sweet moment for everyone. It also made Gray tell Cassie the truth and so she
pushed him away afterward. She didn’t think it was fair that Gray wanted to be a parent now.

Cassie told him he should have been there when Billy needed him the most and that now
was too late. Cassie also said that she had to be with the man that raised her and find out if he
had cancer. Thankfully, Brian didn’t have cancer. He did, however, have a tumor that he needed
to remove and so he was booked in for surgery. Cassie hadn’t taken the news well because it
brought up memories of her mother and maybe that’s why she chose to get lost in her visions
again. Cassie told Tom and Damien about her latest vision that showed a dead young woman
drawing pentacles. Pentacles could mean "new beginnings” and there was a fertility clinic near
the tarot cards shop. And so that’s when the detectives found out Holly wasn’t pregnant.

Holly was actually going through fertility treatments because she was harvesting her eggs.
She wanted it to be a gift for her sister and so she didn’t tell her about it until that Thursday.
The same Thursday when she died. Holly, as it turns out, had called her sister that day. She told
her sister Taylor that she had a surprise and that she needed five thousand dollars because it
was going to worth it. Her sister, unfortunately, thought this meant Holly was following a new
dream. This infuriated her because she was trying to have a baby and thought it was selfish that
her sister was the one that always got to follow her dream. And so when she saw Holly waiting
for her at the house, she slapped her and her sister fell on something.

It was one slap. Yet, it was enough to kill her sister and so Taylor called her husband. He was
the one that helped stage a break-in at Holly’s place and he helped Taylor to clean up the blood.
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They didn’t know that Holly was trying to give them their dream after so long. They waited five
years to have a baby and they missed out on their one chance because of pure jealousy.

It was a sad story. It also made Cassie realize why it hurt so much when Jace Gray wasn’t
the hero she had always pictured. His band used to Cassie’s mom’s favorite. Cassie even played
one of his songs at her mother’s funeral and so she told Gray why the truth had come as such
as a blow. She still wasn’t going to help him contact Billy because Billy was happy on his own,
but she did go to Gray’s memorial that his fans set up.
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The Devil’s Refugee

Season 1
Episode Number: 9
Season Episode: 9

( N\
Originally aired: Wednesday August 07, 2019
Writer: Lauren Barnett
Director: Eduardo Sanchez
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Michael B. Silver (Brian Currie), Sean Bolger (Ed Roven), Michael
Johnston (Young Ed Roven), Andy Mackenzie (Calvin Hayes), Fred
Keating (Henry Pierce), Chilton Crane (Nancy Pierce), Carri Toivanen
(Susan Pierce), J. Douglas Stewart (Frank Blair), Duncan Fraser (Cap-
tain Amos Scott), Adam Stafford (Mark Waterman), Berkeley Ratzlaff
(Millie Pierce), Shalyn Ferdinand (Lawyer), Trevor Lerner (Mitchell),
Abiola Uthman (Uniform #1), Micheal Doonan (Young Frank), Lauren
Maynard (Becky)

Summary: Cassie, Tom and Damien investigate the cold case disappearance of
Millie and soon realize that her disappearance may involve an old ac-
quaintance.

A ghost has never grabbed Cassie before.
They usually let the means of their deaths
do the speaking for them and so tonight
was a first for Cassie. This the ghost
named Millie had grabbed onto Cassie be-
cause she wanted to Cassie her body. Mil-
lie told Cassie to "find me”, but whether
or not she meant to, she has also shown
her the body of another young woman
and it seems the two were buried to-
gether. Cassie mentioned both Millie and
this other woman to her dad. She wanted
Tom’s help in finding the bodies and so
she didn’t count on it turning into a thing. Cassi just wanted to bring to closure to the families.
She hadn’t known that her father would come back with the news that this case was going to be
a little more difficult than they thought.

Tom and his partner Damien had found out they were looking into a serial killer. They checked
and there’s been a single killer operating under the radar for the past thirty years. He tended to
like prostitutes and runaways. Women who were at high risk. The killer also preferred brunettes
and he tended to grab when they were around CTEch. Therefore, the profile of this killer didn’t
add up with Millie’s death. Millie was a blonde and the detectives that she might have been an
outlier. She was either someone that the killer grabbed because she was convenient or maybe she
saw something the night she died. Tom and Damien were exactly sure why Millie was grabbed
and so they decided to check their sources. And Tom showed Cassie pictures.

It was pictures of the women they suspected had been a victim and one photo stuck out.
Cassie recognized the other body as Tara Burns. Burns had disappeared two days before Millie
and the killer was dumping their body off the boat. Cassie also thought the vision had reminded
her of Ed Roven somehow. She admitted to her dad that the ghost was still around and she said
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she could handle him, but then Ed dragged her into another vision and he accidentally more than
he should have. He more or less confirmed that he did have a part in Millie’s death. The more he
didn’t want to show was how he killed Millie with a partner and that he was still protecting his
friend. It was his friend that was this serial killer.

Cassie told her father all about it. She told him how Ed seemed protective of the killer and so
he and Damien went sure for possibly the only friend Ed has ever had. Ed ended up punishing
Cassie for what she did. He talked to a homeless man that could hear him and he convinced
the guy to attack Cassie. The homeless man was supposed to take her eyes, but Cassie fought
him off and she went to her dad i.e. the police. They were able to arrest them that attacked and
it seems like he’s mentally unstable. Tom thought that’s why the guy attacked her only Cassie
remembered seeing the homeless man with Ed. Ed was also very specific about taking his victims’
eyes and Cassie wouldn’t pass him to somehow give a message from the other side.

It also got Tom to thinking. He remembered the copycat killer that recreated everything Ed did
and how the guy had perfectly replicated Ed’s murders down to the finest detail. Tom wondered
if maybe Ed was reaching out from the other side to keep being a serial killer. Tom didn’t mention
this theory to Cassie or Damien, but the detectives were able to close their case when they found
out Ed bailed Frank Blair from prison. It turns out Frank had gotten caught with prostitutes
around the CTech area and he ticked all the boxes. He also worked with Ed Roven on the docks
back in the day. Only Frank chose to stay in the city. He rose up to become dockmaster and the
detectives found him at his cabin.

Frank had even had his latest victim with him. Becky Russell was relatively unharmed and
so the detectives got to her in time. Frank, however, wasn’t the least disappointed when he was
caught. If anything, he was actually bragging because he says he’s killed over sixty women and
so Frank was happy to tell them where the many bodies were. He just couldn’t tell them where
Millie was. Frank said that he hadn’t been his kill and so Cassie knew she had to find out from
Ed himself. Damien even told her how to get the information. He said that she looked like Millie
and that if she angered him enough that she could get Ed to do anything. And so that’s what she
did, she prodded Ed until he revealed what happened to Millie.

The detectives had been right when they said that Frank was Ed’s mentor. Ed hadn’t killed
anyone before he met Frank and he wouldn’t have killed Millie either. She was his first love. He
liked her so much that Frank told him to choose. Frank wanted Ed to choose between being in
love or being a serial killer and he didn’t let Ed wait too long. Frank tricked Millie into coming to
his cabin one night. She walked in on Ed killing Tara and with that, she sealed her fate. Ed had
to Kill her because she would have talked if he hadn’t. So he killed her and he didn’t take her
eyes. That alone showed how unique she was to him.

Cassie ended up seeing the whole thing. She was so disgusted with Ed that she demanded
he leaves and then she couldn’t stop herself from crying. She could have left things there and
she sure as hell wasn’t okay enough to talk to anyone about it, but she went to her dad and
she told him where he could find Millie. Millie was buried at the spot she met Ed. Ed wanted to
memorialize her in the only way he could and so that’s where they later found her.

But Tom visited the prison afterward. He had wanted to talk Waterman who was the man that
copied Ed’s murders and so he asked Waterman if he ever heard Ed Roven’s voice after the man
was executed. And Waterman didn’t know what he was talking about.

Tom thought that would be it, but it seems Waterman really was his protégé because he was
still talking to Ed and they planned on breaking Waterman out of prison.
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Monsters and Angels

Season 1
Episode Number: 10
Season Episode: 10

e ™)
Originally aired: Wednesday August 14, 2019
Writer: Moira Kirland
Director: David Von Ancken
Show Stars: Harriet Dyer (Cassie Bishop), Justin Cornwell (Detective Damien As-

ante), Cindy Luna (Detective Maria Salinas), Anne-Marie Johnson (Lt.
Swanstrom), Chad James Buchanan (Will), Paul Blackthorne (Detec-
tive Tom Hackett)

Guest Stars: Michael B. Silver (Brian Currie), Sean Bolger (Ed Roven), Anne Dudek
(Hannah Foreman), Andres Joseph (Zayn Meier), Sarah Abbott (Abi-
gail Coleman), Grace Lynn Kung (Amy Shu), Adam Stafford (Mark
Waterman), Andy Mackenzie (Calvin Hayes), Christie Burke (Deborah
Strong), Deb Sears (Lorraine Strong), Laara Sadiq (Doctor Ashcroft),
Kailea De Leon (Meghan Waterman), Emmanuel Addo (EMT), Berkeley
Ratzlaff (Millie Pierce), Nicole Anthony (Nurse), Kheon Clarke (Uniform
#1), Abiola Uthman (Uniform #2), Colby Wilson (Uniform #3), Nicholas
Dohy (Undercover Cop)

Summary: Tom and Damien investigate the murder of a young schoolteacher,
only to discover that her killer is someone very close to home. Cassie
realizes that she must deal with Ed Roven once and for all.

The episode starts with Cassie stepping
out of a store, thinking she’s seen her
mother. She follows her into a dark al-
ley where Ed Roven awaits. He taunts
her and tells her to find her. She instead
finds the homeless man who threatened
her several episodes back when she was
looking into Roven’s past. Thankfully, it
is all a dream.

Meanwhile, the trio prepares for
Brian’s brain surgery. All are nervous but
are hoping for good news. Cassie goes to
her room, to have a vision of a woman
having her throat slit. This happens almost immediately before Tom gets a phone call about a
woman being murdered. What do you know... her throat was slit. Tom and Asante investigate
and find that the woman volunteered in the prison where Roven’s protegee, Mark Waterman
(Roven’s first victim’s son), is imprisoned for his crimes.

We know from the last episode that Roven wants to break Waterman out.

While Roven spoke to the homeless man and he is the one who killed the prison volunteer,
the homeless man tells them all about Roven, unaware a ghost is talking to him. He says that
Cassie needs to be taken care of. Tom puts a watch on her house, because he is worried that she
might get hurt.

At work, Cassie sees a vision of Waterman and a woman she doesn’t recognize. He snaps her
neck and then says, "Hello, Cottontail.” They soon find out about Waterman’s escape, shown on
survileance video from the hospital. He was sent there because he mimicked being very sick.
They track the car to a woman who Waterman dated, who is unaware of how dangerous he truly
is. They go to her apartment, which she shares with her mother, but the police find out she has
a secondary apartment.
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There, they find the girlfriend, who thankfully is only passed out and not dead. She tells them
he somehow knew they were coming and attacked her. He’s on the run. Hackett realizes Roven
is helping him.

Much to Cassie’s shock, as this occurs, she sees Brian as she leaves a building, but its a
vison. Asante meets with her per her request and tells her she can’t change the outcome, she
needs to let it play out. He reminds her that her visions don’t always come true. It is a crappy
reassurance, but she agrees not to tell Tom.

Cassie goes to visit Abigail’s mother, hoping that the young girl still spends time at the house.
She finds her in the baby’s room and asks for her help finding the woman that Roven supposedly
loved. She tells Cassie that the inbetween is vast and it'll be hard, but she’ll try her best. We
don’t know what Cassie wants with her, but it looks like she is plotting.

As the detective duo try to track Waterman, Roven messes with the detective outside Cassie’s
house, convincing him to leave. Alone in the house, she senses something is off and puts on her
mother’s necklace, though we don’t learn why. She heads downstairs and turns around, coming
face to face with Waterman. While she initially fights him off, he overpowers her upstairs and is
seconds from strangling her, when she is able to reach a taser to disable him. With a swift kick,
she sends him through her window, to which he falls to the ground, dead on impact.

Despite all that has happened, Cassie, Tom, and Brian decide to have the surgery that day.
He heads into surgery and the waiting game starts. It seems like forever and Cassie goes into
the meditation area, talking to whatever person she believes has given her this gift. She begs for
them to keep Brian alive, and if they don’t, she will never help them again. Its a dark moment for
her, interrupted by Roven who says he’ll never stop hunting her, teaching someone else to take
Waterman’s place.

Yet, soon Abigail appears. She threatens Roven and he laughs at her. Cassie tells him she is
sending him to hell, where he belongs. Amused, he doesn’t believe them until all of his victims
appear before him. Cassie reminds him it is better for the dead to take care of their own. They
consume him and he disappears. The other victims disappear and Abigail walks with Cassie. She
tells her it would’'ve been hard to find everyone had it not been for Claire.

Cassie freezes. Abigail describes the woman who fits her mother’s description. She is upset
to find out that her mother doesn’t have a message for her, but she makes the little girl promise
that if she sees her again, she will tell her not to be a stranger.

It would seem that Cassie’s mother helped her rid the world of Roven. But why won't she
see Cassie? Was the necklace the reason she came to help? Alone, she is upset and then sees
Brian, knowing something is wrong. She runs upstairs to find out they are trying to help him.
Thankfully, a few minutes later, he stabilizes and though he coded for 15 seconds, they are
hopeful he’ll be okay. Asante, Hackett, and Cassie celebrate.

A few weeks later, and Brian is trying to coerce his way out of the hospital. Tom and Cassie
tell him he needs to take it slow and try to enjoy being waited on. All seems well until she looks
into the mirror and sees a different face staring back at her, sunken eyes and not friendly. He
says she looks just like her mother. Her foster parents ask what is wrong, but she brushes it off
and says everything is fine, as the person in the mirror taunts her.
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Bruce Blain. ...t 1 0105 (Q)
0102 (Martin Keel) DUNCan Fraser...........viuiieii i eiie e 1
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Gabriel Jacob-Cross ........vviiriiiiiiiiininnnennnns 1
0104 (Kip Collins)
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Chanel LaCasSe. ....ouuvrintiii e eiinnaieananennannn 1
0104 (Dancer)
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Billy Mustapha.............coiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1

0104 (Dancer)

34

Heidi Niedermeyer .........c.coovuininiiininiiiennnen, 1
0106 (Lyla)

Richard O’'Sullivan..........c..coviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieennt 1
0104 (Dancer)
Jordyn Ashley OISOn.........ocoviiiiiiiiiiiiinineenn 1

0104 (Kaitlyn De Forest)

David Paetkau.........c.coiiiiiiiiii i 1
0108 (Luke Hall)
Angela Palmer..................oooiiiiininnn 3
0101 (Sally); 0102 (Sally); 0103 (Sally Bishop)
Ninon Parent............oiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0103 (The Wraith)

Nathan Parrott...........covuviiiiiiieiinieieienenennns 1
0101 (Boy / Young Mark)

EdWin Perez ......o.vviiiiiiiiniiiniiiiieinieiainnenanans 1
0103 (Chris)

Sarah Porchetta..............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 1
0108 (Tarot Card Woman)

CHf Prang ........oooiuiiiiiiiii i 1
0104 (Evan Miller)

Sunita Prasad ..........coiiiiiiiiiii i 1

0107 (Vera Salonga)

David Quinlan..........c.ooiiiiiiniiiiiiinininiinenen.. 1
0104 (Lawrence Vaughn)
Molly C. QUINIL .. .citiiiii i eaeaas 1

0107 (Andrea Squire)

Tim RanSOmM . .....ouviiii et iieaeens 1
0103 (Hal Weaver)

Berkeley Ratzlaff ... 2
0109 (Millie Pierce); 0110 (Millie Pierce)

Sandy Robson.......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0104 (Rick De Forest)

Patrick ROCCAS .. ovvv v it eieeeeens 1
0101 (Swat Officer)

Chad ROOK. ..oiiitiie ittt ittt 1
0101 (Stephen Archer)

AbPbY ROSS ...cviiiii i 1

0104 (Tiffany Evers)

Laara Sadig......oveeeeiiiieeiiiiiiei e 1
0110 (Doctor Ashcroft)

Christina Schell............ooiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0104 (Dancer)

DD SeaIS. .ottt s 1
0110 (Lorraine Strong)

Taiga Seiya....covuiniini e 1
0108 (Jace Gary’s Band Member)

Cindy Senaud ........covuiiniiiiiiii i 1
0101 (Police Officer)

Michael B. Silver........c.cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieannn 7

0101 (Brian Currie); 0102 (Brian Currie); 0105 (Brian
Currie); 0106 (Brian Currie); 0108 (Brian Cur-
rie); 0109 (Brian Currie); 0110 (Brian Currie)



The InBetween Episode Guide

Malcolm Sparrow-Crawford ..............coovvuiienn.... 1
0107 (Leon Rhodes)

SaAImM SPeAT . ...ttt 1
0103 (Officer Jansen)

Adam Stafford ... 3

0101 (Stark / Waterman); 0109 (Mark Waterman);
0110 (Mark Waterman)

J. Douglas Stewart..........c..ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 1
0109 (Frank Blair)

Sarah Strange...........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0108 (Esther Legato)

Bradley StryKer ... 1
0108 (Bruno Legato)

Luke Sykes.......oooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1

0106 (Ashley Bennett)

Gregory Taven......o.vuinini e 1
0103 (Maimed Male Ghost)

Carri ToIVanen . .....vti et 1
0109 (Susan Pierce)

Kevin TOOKEY . ..ottt 1

0104 (Dancer)

Abiola Uthman ............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaananans 3
0105 (Uniform #1); 0109 (Uniform #1); 0110 (Uni-
form #2)

Quinnie VU ..o e 1
0103 (Peds Nurse)

[070) 157201174 1 =10 s NP 1
0110 (Uniform #3)
Nick Wolthard ...t 1

0104 (Eric Vaughn)

Leanne Khol Young ...........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiininn, 1
0102 (Bloody Woman / Christie Marcus)
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